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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION e -5 P390
WASHINGTOXN, DO, 206
September 5, 2003
MEHORATEEY SENSITIVE
TO: THE COMMISSION
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR ~
ROBERT J. COSTA ﬁc—
DEPUTY STAFF DIRECTOR ,
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON g
ASSISTANT ST DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINES FINAL DETERMINATION

RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2002 YEAR END REPORT

Attached are two lists of political committees and their treasurers against which
the Comumission has found reason to believe (RTB) and assessed proposed civil money
penalties calculated at RTB for failure to file or failure to timely file the 2002 Year End
Report. The first list represents committees that have paid the civil money penaity and
the second list represents those that have not paid. The committees that have not paid
have been given at least forty (40) days from the date of the Commission’s RTB finding

to remit payment.

In accordance with 11 C.F.R. 111.34 and 11 C.F.R. 111.40, the Commission shall
send a final determination notice to those respondents that have either paid or not paid the
civil money penalty.

Five committees have filed reports after the RTB finding where the actual level of
activity disclosed on the report results in a civil money penalty which is lower than that
assessed at RTB. One of the commitices, Political Action Committee of Focal
Communications Corporation (AF #1033), paid the civil money penalty assessed at RTB;
we will therefore issue a refund of the difference between the amount paid and the
amount assessed at final determination. Another committee, Bill Martin Congressional
Committee (AF #997) made a partial payment of the civil money penalty assessed at
RTB: because this payment equals the revised civil money penalty, no refund is



necessary. The remaining commitlees ave
" Dub Maines for Congress {AF #1808)
The actual level of activity and receipt date of the
reports, as well as the revised civil money penalties, are reflected on the attached lists.

RAD Recommendation

(1) Make f{inal determinations that the political committees and their treasurers on the
attached lists violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penaities so

indicated.

(2) Send the appropriate letiers.



COMMITTEES THAT HAVE PAID
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COMMITTEES THAT HAVE NOT PAID
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

Washington, DC 20463 %ENSITEVE
®

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Monday, September 08, 2003 11:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Thursday, September 11, 2003 4:00

COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SMITH, THOMAS, TONER, WEINTRAUB

SUBJECT:  Administrative Fines Final Determination Recommendation
For the 2002 Year End Report. Memorandum from the
Assistant Staff Director Reports Analysis Division dated

September 5, 2003.

{) | approve the recommendation(s)
() | object to the recommendation{s)
{) ) approve the recommendations except those following

to which i object (please insert AF#)

(] | approve the recommendations except thase following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which [ am recused (please insert AF#)

() | am not voting on this tally.

A definite vote is required. Al ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION



BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Final Determination Recommendation
2002 Year End Report for the
Administrative Fines Program:

STEPHANTE TUBBS JONES FOR US CONGRESS,
and SAUNDRA BERRY as treasurer;

SYED MAHMOOD FOR CONGRESS, and IMTIAZ
AHMAD as treasurer;

PHILIP LOWE FOR CONGRESS, and PAT
JONES as treasurer;

AXRAM FOR CONGRESS INC, and NANCY
SCHEUERMANN as treasurer;

[ N R )

)

)

AF# 978

AT# 984

AF# 985

AF# 999



Federal Election Commission Page
certification for Administrative Fines
September 1, 2003

SKORSKI FOR CONGRESS, and ALAN SKORSKI ) AF# 1002
as treasurer; )

DEMOCRACY, and DAVID SEMMEL as
treasurer;

BRIGHTHARP FOR CONGRESS, and JOHN R ) AF# 1004
BRIGHTHARP as treasurer; )
MIKE GREENE FOR CONGRESS CCMMITTEE, ) AF# 1006
and JOE T KELLEY as treasurer; )
OGLES FOR CONGRESS, and MELVIN C SPAIN ) AF# 1007
as treasurer; )
DUB MAINES FOR CONGRESS, and JOE M ) AF# 1008
MAINES as treasurer; )
FRIENDS OF BOB GROSS COMMITTEE, and ) AF# 1008
ROBERT GROSS as treasurer; }
BEN JONES FOR CONGRESS, and ALMA ) AF# 1010
VIATOR as treasurer; }
FRIENDS OF MARGARET WORXMAN, and ) AF# 1012
ALBERT V MAYS JR as treasurer; )
)
BANK OF NEW YORK COMPANY POLITICAL ) AF# 1015
ACTION COMMITTEE-BNY PAC, and MR )
THOMAS J MASTRO as treasurer; )
UNITED REPUBLICAN FINANCE COMMITTEE, ) AF# 1024
and Arras, Ken as treasurer; )
)
TAKE BACK THE HOUSE, and M. MICKEY ) AF# 1027
WILLIAMS as treasurer; )
AMERICANS UNITED IN SUPPORT CF ) AF# 1028
)
)



Federal Election Commission
certification for Administrative Fines
September 11, 2003

UNIFORMED FIREFIGHTERS ASSOCIATION
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (FIRE PAC),
and MCADAMS, KEVIN MR as treasurer;

Page

) AF# 1034



Federal Election Commissicn Page

Certification for Administrative Fines
September 11, 2003

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary for the Federal
Election Commission, do hereby certify that on
September 11, 2003, the Commission took the
following actions on the Final Determination
Recommendation For The 2002 Year End Report in the
Administrative Fines Program, as recommended in the
Reports Analysis Division's Memcrandum dated

September 5, 2003, on the follcowing committees:

AFH# 978: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that STEPHANIE TUBBS JONES FOR

4



Federal Election Commission Page 5
Certification for Administrative Fines
September 11, 2003

US CONGRESS, and SAUNDRA BERRY as treasurer,
violated 2 U.35.C. 434({a) and assess the civil money
penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub veoted affirmatively for
the decision.



Federal Election Commission Page 6
certification for Administrative Fines
September 11, 2003

AFH# 984: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that SYED MAHMOOD FOR CONGRESS,
and IMTIAZ ARHMAD as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 985: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that PHILIP LOWE FOR CONGRESS,
and PAT JONES as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a)
and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.



rederal Election Commission rage 7
certification for Administrative Fines
September 11, 2003

AF# 995: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1} make a
final determination that AKRAM FOR CONGRESS INC, and
NANCY SCHEUERMANN as treasurer, violated 2 U.s.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.



Federal Election Commission Page 8
Certification for Administrative Fines

September 11, 2003

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 1002: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1} make a
final determination that SKORSKI FOR CONGRESS, and
ALDAN SKORSKI as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a)
and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AFH# 1004: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that BRIGHTHARP FOR CONGRESS,
and JOHN R BRIGHTHARP as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434{a) and assess the civil meney penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 1006: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that MIKE GREENE FOR CONGRESS
COMMITTEE, and JOE T KELLEY as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 1007: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that OGLES FOR CONGRESS, and
MELVIN ¢ SPAIN as treasurer, violated 2 U.S8.C.

434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter,



Federal Election Commission Page 9
Certification for Administrative Fines
September 11, 2003

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 1008: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: {1) make a
final determination that DUB MAINES FOR CONGRESS,
and JOE M MAINES as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 1009: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that FRIENDS OF BOB GROSS
COMMITTEE, and ROBERT GROSS as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissicners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 1010: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that BEN JONES FOR CONGRESS, and
ALMA VIATOR as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 1012: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that FRIENDS OF MARGARET
WORKMAN, and ALBERT V MAYS JR as treasurer, violated
2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty
so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
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Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 1015: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that BANK OF NEW YORK CCOMPANY
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE-BNY PAC, and MR THOMAS J
MASTRO as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AFH 1024: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that UNITED REPUBLICAN FINANCE
COMMITTEE, and Arras, Ken as treasurer, violated 2
U.8.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2} send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
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AF# 1027: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that TAKE BACK THE HOUSE, and M.
MICKEY WILLIAMS as treasurer, violated 2 U.S5.C.
434{a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; {2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 10238: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that AMERICANS UNITED IN SUPPORT
OF DEMOCRACY, and DAVID SEMMEL as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for
the decision.

AF# 1034: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that UNIFORMED FIREFIGHTERS
ASSOCIATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (FIRE PAC),
and MCADAMS, KEVIN MR as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
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Secretary of the Commissicn
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